ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS D. HALL MAY 2 5 2001

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

BY

ANTHONY B. BOYKINS,

Petitioner,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

S.Ct. Case No. SCOI-1123

5th DCA Case No. 5D 00-1768

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, FIFTH DISTRICT

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

LINDA L. GAUSTAD ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0194166 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (386) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Boykins was convicted of robbery with a firearm. On appeal, Mr.

Boykins argued that the trial court erred when it denied his juror strike for cause for

Ms. Diabari. The relevant facts of Mr. Boykins' case are set forth in the district

court's opinion as follows:

During voir dire, Juror Diabari expressed doubt about her ability or willingness to withstand the views of the other jurors during deliberation:

[DEFENSE COUNSEL:] ...if you were selected to sit on this panel and you went back to deliberate after all of the evidence is in and you are asked to decide the facts of this case because that's your role and there were five votes against you, the other five felt strongly one way and you felt strongly the other way and you standing there alone with the greater number against you, would you give in to that greater number?

DIBARI: Unfortunately, I might give in.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: You think that you might?

DIBARI: Because we all see the same facts pretty much and I don't know what I could prove that would hold up against the other people.

Juror Diabari was challenged for cause based on her expressed misgivings about whether she would succumb to the will of the majority. The court denied the "for cause" challenge. *Boykins* used a peremptory to excuse her as the alternate juror and sought an additional peremptory.

On appeal, appellant relies on <u>Shannon v. State</u>, 770 So. 2d 714 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000). There, the court ordered a new trial where one juror said

during voir dire that he had previously sat on a jury where he had succumbed to pressure from other jurors and expressed an inability to maintain his view of the evidence if pressured by other jurors.

Despite the similarities, Shannon does not control the outcome of this case. The juror in Shannon was explicit about his weakness, his prior experience and previous failure to follow his oath. Ms. Diabari merely said that she might not be able to be persuasive and might give in to the reasoning of others since they were all privy to the same evidence. We note that Shannon cites no cases in support of its conclusion that a juror who cannot commit to withstand the reasoning of other jurors is subject to a challenge for cause. Section 913.03, Florida Statutes (1999) identifies twelve grounds for a challenge for cause. None of these statutory grounds applies to the facts before us. Accordingly, we find no error in failing to allow this challenge for cause.

AFFIRMED

Boykins v. State, 26 Fla. L. Weekly D946 (Fla. 5th DCA April 4, 2001). Mr.

Boykins timely filed a notice to invoke on May 14, 2001.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

When affirming Mr. Boykins's conviction, the Fifth District Court was in direct conflict with the Fourth District Court's decision in <u>Shannon v. State</u>, 770 So. 2d 714 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000), thereby permitting this Court to exercise discretionary review over the opinion below.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

THE DISTRICT COURT'S OPINION CONFLICTS WITH THE OPINION FROM ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW.

This Court has authority to exercise its discretionary review on any decision of a district court which expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court on the same question of law. Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution. The conflict must be evident within the "four corners" of the decision below. <u>See</u> <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986).

The district court affirmed Mr. Boykins' conviction even though a juror, Ms. Diabari, doubted her individual ability to decide Mr. Boykins' case on the facts she heard. <u>See Boykins v. State</u>, 26 Fla. L. Weekly D946 (Fla. 5th DCA April 4, 2001). Because all the jurors hear the same facts, she did not know what she could prove to the other jurors that were in opposition of her independent decision. Ms. Diabari personally believed that she might give in to the other jurors even though she strongly believed otherwise.

The district court's opinion directly conflicts with <u>Shannon v. State</u>, 770 So. 2d 714 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000). In <u>Shannon</u>, the court held that the appellant's challenge for cause should have been granted when the juror doubted his ability to withstand the pressures from the other jurors in opposition of his independent decision. <u>Id.</u> at 715-16. On a previous occasion that juror succumbed to the pressure from the opposing jurors despite his independent decision. <u>Id.</u>

The district court read <u>Shannon</u> too narrowly when it distinguished the facts in this case. In essence, the district court held that a prerequisite to a juror strike for cause is the prospective juror must first in another case have succumbed to the pressures of other jurors. If a juror expresses doubt that he or she has the ability to stand up to the pressure of others and will succumb to pressure despite reasonably believing facts to be otherwise, a reasonable doubt exists as to that juror's ability to be fair and impartial. <u>See Kessler v. State</u>, 752 So. 2d 545, 550 (Fla. 1999) ("The juror should be excused if there is any reasonable doubt about the juror's ability to render an impartial verdict.") (citing <u>Turner v. State</u>, 645 So.2d 444, 447 (Fla.1994); <u>See also Singer v. State</u>, 109 So. 2d 7 (Fla. 1959).

The district court stated that Section 913.03, Florida Statutes (1999) identifies twelve grounds for a challenge for cause and recognized that none of the statutory grounds applied to Mr. Boykins' case. <u>See Boykins</u>. The district court's decision that the list in Section 913.03 is exhaustive is in direct conflict with <u>Shannon</u>. Although Section 913.03 list reasons that a juror may be stricken for cause, there certainly are other situations, as in this case, where a strike for cause is paramount to ensure that justice is served. The defendant is entitled to have a jury consisting of six independent jurors who decide the defendant's fate on the evidence produced at trial. The <u>Shannon</u> court recognized this and decided that the list in Section 913.03 was not conclusive as evident from its holding. The District Court's opinion herein is in direct conflict with <u>Shannon</u>. Thus, this Court should exercise its discretion and accept the instant case for review to resolve the conflict.

CONCLUSION

BASED ON THE foregoing arguments and authorities cited herein, Mr.

Boykins respectfully requests that this Honorable Court grant review on the district court's opinion below.