IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED THOMAS D. HALL JUN 1 2 2001

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

ANTHONY B. BOYKINS,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. SC<u>01-1123</u> 5TH DCA CASE NO. 5D00-1768

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON NOTICE TO INVOKE DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

/ KELLIE A. NIELAN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar # 618550

PAMELA J. KOLLER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #0775990 444 Seabreeze Blvd., 5th Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 238-4990/FAX:(386) 238-4997 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellant was convicted of robbery with a firearm. During jury selection, the defense challenged Juror Dibari because she indicated she might not be able to be persuasive and might give in to the reasoning of the other jurors since they were all privy to the same evidence. Specifically, Juror Dibari, in response to defense counsel's question "if...there were five votes against you, the other five felt strongly one way and you felt strongly the other way and you are standing there alone with the greater number against you, would you give in to that greater number?," admitted "[u]nfortunately, I might give in....[b]ecause we all see the same facts pretty much and I don't know what I could prove that would hold up against the other people." The trial court denied the challenge for cause and the Fifth District Court of Appeal sustained the trial court's ruling. Boykins v. State, 26 Fla. L. Weekly D946 (Fla. 5th DCA April 6, 2001). (Mandate issued on May 29, 2001, after the district court denied Petitioner's Motion for Rehearing, Certification of Conflict and Request for Clarification). The Fifth District Court of Appeal distinguished the facts of <u>Shannon</u> in the opinion sub judice:

> The juror in <u>Shannon</u> was explicit about his weakness, his prior experience and previous failure to follow his oath. Ms. Dibari merely said that she might not be able to be persuasive and might give in to the reasoning of others since they were all privy to the same evidence.

It is from that opinion that Petitioner now seeks discretionary review by this Court in the above-styled case.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner's claim that the opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal is in express and direct conflict with <u>Shannon v.</u> <u>State</u>, 770 So.2d 714 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000), is without merit as the facts underlying these opinions are distinguishable and, accordingly, constitutes an insufficient basis upon which this Court could exercise its discretionary jurisdiction under Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution or Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A).

ARGUMENT

THE OPINION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THE CASE *SUB JUDICE* AFFIRMING THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF PETITIONER'S CHALLENGE FOR CAUSE OF JUROR DIBARI IS NOT IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH <u>SHANNON V. STATE</u>, 770 So.2d 714 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000).

Under Article V, Section 3 (b)(3) of the Florida Constitution and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), this Court may review any decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the Supreme Court on the same question of law. In <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 485 So. 2d 829 (Fla. 1986), this Court said that the conflict between decisions must be express and direct, i.e., it must appear within the four corners of the majority decision.

In the instant case, during jury selection defense counsel asked Juror Dibari "if...there were five votes against you, the other five felt strongly one way and you felt strongly the other way and you standing there alone with the greater number against you, would you give in to that greater number?" She responded by explaining "[u]nfortunately, I might give in....[b]ecause we all see the same facts pretty much and I don't know what I could prove that would hold up against the other people." <u>Boykins v. State</u>, 26 Fla. L. Weekly D946 (Fla. 5th DCA April 6, 2001).

On the other hand, the juror in <u>Shannon v. State</u>, 770 So.2d 714 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000), the case relied upon below by Petitioner, admitted on voir dire he could not promise he would stand by his convictions in the face of pressure from other jurors based on his

previous experience while serving on jury duty. The Fifth District Court of Appeal distinguished the facts of <u>Shannon</u> in the opinion sub judice:

> The juror in <u>Shannon</u> was explicit about his weakness, his prior experience and previous failure to follow his oath. Ms. Dibari merely said that she might not be able to be persuasive and might give in to the reasoning of others since they were all privy to the same evidence.

Boykins, 26 Fla. L. Weekly at 946.

κ.

In other words, the juror in Shannon was essentially advising the lawyers he could not stand by his convictions, as he had failed to do so in the past as a juror in a criminal case. Contrarily, as the district court noted, Juror Dibari merely stated "she might not be able to be persuasive and might give in to the reasoning of the other jurors since they were all privy to the same evidence." <u>Id</u>. The distinction in the facts of these two cases falls far short of demonstrating an express and direct conflict. Accordingly, Petitioner has failed to establish jurisdiction.

Finally, in <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So. 2d 1356, 1357-1358 (Fla. 1980), this Court discussed the creation of the district courts of appeal and quoted from <u>Ansin v. Thurston</u>, 101 So. 2d 808, 810 (Fla. 1958):

It was never intended that the district courts of appeal should be intermediate courts. ... To fail to recognize that these are courts primarily of final appellate jurisdiction and to allow such courts to become intermediate courts of appeal would result in a condition far more detrimental to the general welfare and the speedy and efficient administration of justice than

that which the system was designed to remedy.

Accordingly, not only has the Petitioner failed to establish jurisdiction as there is no express and direct conflict, but, also, such an issue is not requiring of this Court's time and attention, as the district courts have fairly addressed the matter.

CONCLUSION

Since Petitioner has failed to establish express and direct conflict or any other basis upon which this Court could exercise its discretionary jurisdiction in this case, Respondent respectfully prays this Honorable Court decline to do so.